THE INTERSECTION OF RACE AND SEXUALITY IN A NATIONAL SAMPLE: EXAMINING DISCRIMINATION AND MENTAL HEALTH

By

Lauren Olivia Wiklund

A THESIS

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

Psychology - Master of Arts

2020

ABSTRACT

THE INTERSECTION OF RACE AND SEXUALITY IN A NATIONAL SAMPLE: EXAMINING DISCRIMINATION AND MENTAL HEALTH

By

Lauren Olivia Wiklund

The current study examined the experiences of race and sexuality related mistreatment in 2,335 racially diverse sexual minorities, the impact of those experiences on depression and anxiety symptoms, and the buffering effects of racial identity and social support. Zero inflated Poisson regression models were utilized for data analysis. Despite sexual minorities of color endorsing more frequent racial- and sexuality-based discrimination compared to their White counterparts, findings indicate they had similar levels of anxiety and depression. Positive racial identity and social support varied by race. Importantly, social support was significantly associated with a decrease in depression and anxiety symptoms for Black sexual minorities with any symptoms. These findings suggest that at low levels of discrimination, sexual minorities of color appear to have resilience against some of the negative psychological consequences of experiencing both race- and sexuality-based discrimination, when compared to White sexual minorities. The resilience against racial discrimination, taught through racial socialization from an early age for many people of color, may generalize to resilience against sexuality-based discrimination. Given the variation of results across racial minorities, this study underscores the importance of an approach to race that preserves each racial groups' unique experiences of discrimination and mental health. Implications of a multidimensional approach to sexuality, challenges in addressing intersectional experiences, and considerations for clinicians working with these vulnerable populations are discussed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. NiCole Buchanan for her time, guidance, and support, as well as my Master's committee members, Dr. Jae Puckett and Dr. Kaston Anderson-Carpenter for their collaboration and feedback on this project. Additionally, I would like to thank Nicole Jess from the Center for Statistical Training & Consulting (CSTAT) for her consultation on the analyses, as well as my cohort, friends, and family for providing laughter, support, and motivation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v	
Introduction	1	
Intersectionality, Multiple Jeopardy, and Mental Health		
Racial Identity and Social support as Protective Factors		
Dimensions of Sexuality		
The Current Study		
Methods	13	
Procedures		
Measures	15	
Sexuality	15	
Discrimination		
Mental Health Outcomes	16	
Protective Factors	17	
Data Analysis	18	
Results	20	
Experiences of Discrimination		
Mental Health Outcomes	22	
Interaction of Discrimination and Mental Health Outcomes	23	
Protective Factors	26	
Discussion	28	
Limitations and Future Directions	33	
REFERENCES	36	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of Sexual Minority Population Only	20
Table 2: Zero-Inflated Poisson (ZIP) Regressions	21
for Race Predicting Racial Discrimination	21
Table 3: Protective Factors	26

Introduction

An expanding body of literature demonstrates that persistent mental health disparities exist across and within minority groups. The vast majority of inequity research has explored racial disparities. Research addressing inequities related to sexual orientation is in its nascent stages and there is very little addressing both race and sexual orientation simultaneously. Because sexual minority research rarely addresses race and race research rarely addresses sexuality, health inequities research examining individuals who identify with multiple minority identities is rare (exceptions include Bowleg, 2008, 2012; Bowleg et al., 2003; Buchanan, 2015; Buchanan et al., 2018). Given that discrimination, marginalized identities, and intersecting identities may create heightened risk for a wide variety of negative psychological symptoms, their exploration is imperative (Bostwick et al., 2014; Settles & Buchanan, 2014).

Compared to Whites, racial minorities in the United States report fewer mental disorders overall, however, when present, systemic disparities in access to care, clinical biases and societal inequalities create disproportionally worse consequences (Baker et al., 2010; Budhwani et al., 2015; McGuire & Miranda, 2008). Racial and ethnic minority adolescents in psychological distress are more likely to be directed toward the juvenile justice system than to mental health care services relative to White adolescents (Losen et al., 2014). When presenting with the same symptoms, Black adults are more likely to receive a diagnosis of schizophrenia while White adults are more likely to be diagnosed with a mood disorder, such as depression (Bell et al., 2015). The effects of such a misdiagnosis can be catastrophic considering that Black individuals with mental illness, particularly schizophrenia, are more frequently incarcerated compared to individuals of other races (Hawthorne et al., 2012). According to the 2017 National Healthcare Quality and Disparities report, all racial minorities experience worse access to care compared to

White individuals (Gray et al., 2017). While Black individuals routinely lack access to competent mental health care and consequently have lower outpatient utilization rates, their utilization of inpatient services is higher compared to all other races (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2015). Given that racial minorities are projected to constitute more than half of the U.S. population by 2044, addressing these health disparities is a matter of public health (Colby & Ortman, 2015).

Sexual minorities are more likely to live with depression, anxiety, and suicidality compared to heterosexuals in the United States (Kates et al., 2018; Rice et al., 2019). Those who endorse engaging in bisexual behavior have the highest rates of mood and anxiety disorders compared to their lesbian, gay, or heterosexual counterparts (Bostwick et al., 2010; Ross et al., 2018) and are more likely to struggle with a severe substance use disorder (Boyd et al., 2019). Adolescents that identify as lesbian, gay, and bisexual attempt suicide at four times the rate of their heterosexual peers (Kann et al., 2016). Despite advances toward equity with marriage equality and the Affordable Care Act, sexual minorities continue to face issues with accessing care due to discrimination and stigma (Skopec & Long, 2015) and are at an increased risk of experiencing violence compared to heterosexuals (Waters et al., 2018). Taken together, the available literature on discrimination, violence, and isolation paint a picture of an increased risk for psychological distress for the estimated nine million people in the United States that identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender (Gates, 2011). Given that an estimated 19 million Americans reported engaging in any same-sex sexual behavior across the lifespan, these mental health issues may impact an larger portion of the population than initially estimated (Gates, 2011).

The few studies that have explored mental health outcomes for those that are both racial and sexual minorities provide contradictory results. One study found that Black sexual minority women reported increased experiences of discrimination and poorer psychological well-being than White sexual minority women and Black sexual minority men (Calabrese et al., 2015). A recent study utilizing a nationally representative dataset found that Black sexual minorities reported lower levels of psychiatric disorders than White sexual minorities and Latinx sexual minorities reported a similar incidence of psychiatric disorders compared to their White counterparts (Rodriguez-Seijas et al., 2019). Risk for symptoms of mental illness is positively correlated with experiences of discrimination and with increased frequency and type of discrimination experienced (Bostwick et al., 2014). Rates of psychological distress notwithstanding, racial minority gay men are more likely to struggle with internalized homophobia (Chard et al., 2015) and are less likely to access mental health care due to stigma (Storholm et al., 2013). Racial minority lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender individuals are even more likely to be victims of violence than White heterosexual individuals. In 2017, 59.6% of the victims of reported hate crimes were targeted for their race or ethnicity and 15.8% of victims were targeted because of their sexual orientation (U.S. Department of Justice, 2017). Given the lack of concrete literature examining the impact of both racial and sexual minority statuses on mental health outcomes, there is a critical need to perform this analysis.

Intersectionality, Multiple Jeopardy, and Mental Health

Legal scholar and critical race theorist, Kimberlé Crenshaw, coined the term intersectionality to highlight that individuals' identities cannot be analyzed separately because they exist interdependently (Crenshaw, 1990). Intersectionality theory posits that the separate analysis of race, class, sexuality or gender does not fully characterize an individual's particular

and unique experience (Cole, 2009) and demands that social science research examine the experiences of real people and their lives as they live them (Settles & Buchanan, 2014). With regard to health inequities, the increased research examining minority mental health has been limited by the relative lack of intersectional theory and analysis, which affects findings and implications of this work and limits its ability to decrease disparities.

Connected to intersectionality, multiple jeopardy describes the multiple biases faced by individuals that hold multiple marginalized identities (Beal, 1970; King, 1988). Multiple jeopardy requires intersectionality as the framework for understanding the layers of discrimination faced by individuals that is not captured when race, gender, or sexuality are examined in isolation (Bowleg et al., 2003; Settles & Buchanan, 2014). Using an intersectional framework, it would stand to reason that a bisexual Latinx woman is subject to victimization based on her race, sexuality, and gender, as well as the unique manifestations of sexualized racial bias for example.

According to minority stress theory (Brooks, 1981; Meyer, 2003), stigma, prejudice, and discrimination generate stressful social environments that in turn lead to increased psychological distress among individuals of marginalized groups. A multicultural model of the stress process explains the cyclical nature of stress while living in the U.S. as a member of a marginalized group (Slavin & Rainer, 1991). Stressful events burden an individual's coping mechanisms and in turn may increase vulnerability to stress, contributing to worse future outcomes (Slavin & Rainer, 1991). Many studies support the connection between experiences of discrimination and negative mental health outcomes, particularly symptoms related to anxiety or depression in sexual minority individuals (Bostwick et al., 2014; Calabrese et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016) and racial/ethnic minorities (Budhwani et al., 2015; Krieger et al., 2005; Schmitt et al., 2014; Sellers

& Shelton, 2003). Sexual minority women who experience discrimination based on their sexual orientation report increased physical health problems (Frost et al., 2015) and increased risk of mood and anxiety disorders (Lee et al., 2016).

Alternatively, individuals marginalized due to bias associated with both race and sexuality may have developed greater resilience compared to White sexual minorities, thus explaining some of the inconsistent findings (Meyer, 2010). A smaller body of literature in support of resiliency models suggest that multiple marginalization may promote a unique psychological capacity to achieve positive development in the face of adversity as a combination of the individual and their environmental context (Ungar & Liebenberg, 2011). Growing up within a racially marginalized community provides shared group experiences that help contextualize discriminatory experiences (Hughes et al., 2006; Neblett et al., 2012; Postmes & Branscombe, 2002) and parents of color engage in racial socialization techniques to help children develop resilience against racism (Brown, 2008; Fischer & Shaw, 1999; Ifill et al., 2018; Johnson, 2004; LaSala & Frierson, 2012). Facing racial discrimination from birth leads to the development of skills and coping strategies that can translate to combating heterosexism (Fitzgerald et al., 2019; Greene, 1994; Stone et al., 2020). A combination of racial socialization and personal traits has been found to foster resilience in Black lesbians in particular (Bowleg et al., 2003, 2004).

Most White sexual minorities are not socialized to prepare them for identity-based discrimination. Racial minorities with parents and communities with a shared racial experience are taught ways to protect themselves against the inevitable stigma they will face for their race (Brown, 2008). Most White sexual minorities grow up in predominately heterosexual environments and are not afforded the same socialization to educate them on the stigma and

barriers they will face due to their sexuality (Mendez, 2020; Simon & Farr, 2020). Sexual minorities that are White are not typically raised in communities with shared sexuality experiences and thus do not develop the psychological adjustment skills used to face discrimination that result from racial socialization for sexual minorities of color (Neblett et al., 2008). White individuals that report racial discrimination tend to be disproportionately male, with higher levels of income and education (Pincus, 2000) and are more likely to be evangelical Protestants and politically conservative (Mayrl & Saperstein, 2013). These findings intimate that White individuals with more privileged identities (socioeconomic, religious, education) are more likely to report anti-White bias. It may be that in the face of negative events, more privileged identities are risk factors for not having the coping skills to endure discriminatory events (Allen, 2020; Hagerman, 2014; Marshall, 2002). Taken together, individuals multiply marginalized by race and sexuality may actually be protected by greater resilience compared to White sexual minorities. While work focused on the mental health outcomes for sexual minority individuals is growing, there is a paucity of research on the unique experiences of risk and resilience for racial sexual minorities and little is known about the ways their identities interact to affect mental health outcomes (Cyrus, 2017).

Racial Identity and Social Support as Protective Factors

A critical aspect of examining mental health outcomes in marginalized communities is exploring individual strengths and protective factors that may buffer against the additive nature of multiple minority stress. For example, a stronger sense of racial identity may be a protective factor against perceived discrimination (Schmitt et al., 2014; Sellers & Shelton, 2003).

Rosenfield (2012) found that stronger racial identity in Black women and men was related to lower rates of depression when compared to their White counterparts with similar education

levels. In conjunction with experiencing discrimination, negative self-views or internalized racism has been related to lower psychological well-being (Velez et al., 2019). For sexual minority individuals, a positive sense of their sexual identity has been linked to lower levels of depression (Kertzner et al., 2009) and greater well-being (Mohr & Kendra, 2011). Similarly, internalized heterosexism has been shown to increase psychological distress (Velez et al., 2015). There are no data examining whether a strong racial identity could be protective against negative events related to discrimination based on another marginalized identity, however it is important to note the difficulty in separating forms of oppression based on specific identities in individuals who hold multiple identities.

Social support may be a buffer against stressful life events and a protective factor for both physical and mental health (Cohen et al., 1985, 1997). In a review of 148 studies, individuals with strong social relationships had a 50% increased probability of survival when compared to counterparts with fewer social connections (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2010) and positive relationships within a wide social network benefited individuals exposed to high levels of stress (Sehmi et al., 2019). In a college sample, social support was positively correlated with resilience among Black students (Brown, 2008). The presence of social support, and specifically higher quality interpersonal relationships may act as a protective factor against depressive symptoms for racial minorities (Plant & Sachs-Ericsson, 2004). For sexual minorities, having access to other sexual minorities, individually or as a community, reduces psychological distress (Puckett et al., 2015). In a study examining gay and bisexual men, community connectedness was associated with lower rates of perceived sexual discrimination and a greater likelihood of having a primary care provider (Anderson-Carpenter et al., 2018). For individuals who are both sexual and racial minorities, positive support from their racial group has been associated with mitigating

experiences of discrimination (Balsam et al., 2015; Greene, 2000) and positive social support based on racial identity was found to outweigh sexual identity support for Latinx young adults (Snapp et al., 2015). Given that positive racial identity may protect racial minorities when faced with discrimination and social support buffers the effects of discrimination for sexual minorities, both racial identity and social support are important protective factors to include in studies of sexual minorities of color.

Dimensions of Sexuality

Sexual orientation is a dimensional construct reflecting an individual's attraction, behaviors, and sexual identity (Rosario & Schrimshaw, 2014). Despite these three domains, most studies only include individuals that label themselves as lesbian, gay, or bisexual and exclude individuals who may not endorse these labels, but have same gender experiences and attractions (L.M. Diamond, 2014; Patterson et al., 2017). Approximately nine million Americans selfidentify as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender, but over 19 million Americans have engaged in same-sex sexual behavior (Gates, 2011). While individuals may develop their sexual identity by recognizing themselves with a label of straight, gay, lesbian, or bisexual, they may also face stigmatization based on who they are attracted to and who they engage with sexually (Mohr & Kendra, 2011). The variation in how sexual orientation is studied may be problematic given that identity, behavior, and attraction may be distinct facets of an individual's overall sense of sexuality (Badgett, 2009; Lisa M. Diamond, 2000; Paschen-Wolff et al., 2019). In fact, one study that utilized a multidimension measure of sexuality found variations in mental health outcomes based on self-identification, sexual behavior, and attraction (Bostwick et al., 2010). Only including individuals who self-identify as lesbian, gay, or bisexual in mental health research risks further stigmatizing these labels and narrowing the generalizability of sexuality research.

Expanding the inclusion criteria to fit a multidimensional model of sexuality broadens our clinical knowledge to include more people that may have similar risk and resilience factors based on their attraction or behavior.

The Current Study

The proposed project is a secondary data analysis of participant responses to the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism's National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III (NESARC-III; Grant et al., 2015; National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA), 2015). This study will expand the current literature by using a large and racially diverse sample of sexual minority adults to examine experiences of race- and sexuality-related mistreatment, their impact on both depression and anxiety, and the potential buffering effects of racial identity and social support on depression and anxiety following race- and sexuality-based discrimination.

Utilizing an intersectional framework, this study aims to fill a gap in the literature by focusing on the comprehensive lived experiences of individuals with multiple marginalized identities. Rather than separating race from sexuality and gender, this analysis intends to integrate multiple jeopardy and minority stress theory into the examination of how discrimination experiences interact with multiple identities. By examining multiple types of negative identity-based events, similarities and differences between sexuality-based or race-based discrimination will be explored. These discriminatory experiences may affect individuals differently based on their unique race and sexuality combinations.

The proposed study will also expand the extant literature by utilizing a more inclusive and representative measurement of sexuality. Specifically, sexual minorities will broadly be defined as individuals who selected a sexual minority identity (lesbian, gay or bisexual) as well

as anyone who reported same-gender attractions or sexual behaviors. By including individuals based on these dimensions of sexual behavior and attraction, this study aims to expand sexual minority research beyond the singular focus on individuals that self-identify as lesbian, gay or bisexual.

In an effort to move this body of literature toward an action-oriented social justice purpose, the proposed study will include the exploration of protective factors and apply a strengths-based perspective. While understanding the potential risks for poor mental health outcomes is important to guide the focus of the field, implications for future work that will decrease health disparities should be informed by the strengths that already exist within the communities of interest. While sexual minorities do report higher rates of psychological distress, there is variation within this population that warrants study. There lacks a clear consensus around the risk or resilience associated with multiply marginalized identities. However, adequate evidence supports the psychological harm caused by discrimination. By investigating protective factors may improve mental health, we begin to approach solutions for these disparities. Toward this goal, this study will investigate how social support and racial identity relate to discrimination experiences and outcomes in sexual minorities of color.

The proposed study will benefit the growing literature by utilizing a large and robust nationally representative sample. Minority populations are often difficult to study quantitatively due to their smaller size in the general public. As a result, research involving racial and sexual minorities of color is growing, but most studies are small in size and utilize convenience sampling. Findings from a nationally representative sample, such as that used here, are more likely to generalize to the broader population and should prove to be useful in understanding

their potential implications. Using theoretical and empirical perspectives on intersectionality, multiple jeopardy, resilience, and minority stress, this study poses the following hypotheses:

1. Discrimination

- a. Sexual minorities of color will report higher rates of racial discrimination compared to Whites sexual minorities.
- b. Sexual minorities of color will report higher rates of sexual discrimination compared to Whites sexual minorities.

2. Mental health

a. Sexual minorities of color will report higher rates of anxiety and depression symptoms compared to White sexual minorities.

3. Discrimination and mental health

- a. Racial discrimination will be associated with increased symptoms of anxiety and depression in sexual minorities of color compared to White sexual minorities.
- b. Sexuality discrimination will be associated with increased symptoms of anxiety and depression in racial minorities of color compared to White sexual minorities
- c. The additive experiences of both sexuality- and race-based discrimination will be associated with increased symptoms of anxiety and depression in sexual minorities of color compared to Whites sexual minorities.

4. Protective factors

a. Racial identity will attenuate the relationship between discrimination and symptoms of anxiety/depression for sexual minorities of color such that those with stronger positive racial identity will have fewer symptoms of anxiety/depression compared to Whites sexual minorities. b. Social support will attenuate the relationship between discrimination and symptoms of anxiety/depression such that sexual minorities of color with more social support will have fewer of anxiety/depression symptoms compared to Whites sexual minorities.

Methods

Procedures

The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism's National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III (NESARC-III) is a longitudinal study with three waves of data collection. The first wave of data in 2001-2002, the second wave in 2004-2005 and the third wave in 2012 -2013. Fieldwork was conducted by Westat, a professional research service provider. Data was collected via face-to-face interviews with trained staff interviewers that lived in the same geographic regions where the interviews took place. Westat utilized the U.S. Postal Service Computerized Delivery Sequence and multistage probability sampling to randomly sample households. Data from the U.S. Census summary file was used to further define block segments and the demographics of the area and within the individual household. Field interviewers were responsible for screening the household and identifying at least one eligible participant. Additional details regarding NESARC-III procedures are presented in past studies (see Grant et al., 2015; Hasin et al., 2015; Ruan et al., 2008).

All potential participants received written information regarding the purpose of the survey, potential use of the data, voluntary consent and participation and Federal laws governing confidentiality. The Westat Institutional Review Board and the Combined Neurosciences Institutional Review board of the National Institutes of Health provided full ethical review and approval of the research protocol and informed consent procedures. Participants were compensated \$90 in two installments during the process of screening and completion of the interview.

The full sample included 36,309 civilian participants, aged 18 years and older, residing in noninstitutionalized housing in the Unites States. The total sample (N= 36,309) self-identified as

43.7% male (n = 15,862) and 56.3% female (n = 20,447), with additional gender representations not identified. The racial demographics are 52.9% White (n = 19,194), 21.4% Black (n = 7,766), 5.0% Asian/Pacific Islander (n = 1,801), 1.4% Indigenous/Alaska Native (n = 511), and 19.4% Latinx/Hispanic (n = 7,037).

Sexuality was measured via identity, attraction, and behavior. Participants identified as 96.25% heterosexual (n = 34,644), 3.75% gay, lesbian, or bisexual (n = 1,351), and 0.5% as not sure (n = 199). Participants that endorsed a heterosexual attraction made up 94.83% of the sample (n = 34,114), 5.17% endorsed sexual minority attraction (n = 1,860). For lifetime sexual behavior, 93.59% of participants reported heterosexual sexual behavior (n = 33,639), and 6.41% reported sexual minority sexual behavior in their lifetime (n = 2,305). For sexual behavior within the last year, 95.34% of participants reported only heterosexual behavior (n = 24,525), 4.66% reported sexual minority behavior (n = 1,198), and 27% of participants reported that they had not engaged in any sexual behaviors with a partner (n = 9,812).

The current analysis focused on a subset of participants based on either sexual minority identity (lesbian, gay, or bisexual), sexual minority behavior in the past 12 months, or sexual minority attraction. Participants who endorsed a sexual minority aspect of any of the three facets of sexuality were included. This subset of sexual minority respondents (N = 2335) was the basis of all analyses. The sexual minority sample identified as 40.9% male (n = 955) and 59.1% female (n = 1380). The racial demographics are 52.4% White (n = 1224), 23.2% Black (n = 541), 4.6% Asian or Pacific Islander (n = 107), 1.3% Indigenous/Alaska Native (n = 31), and 18.5% Latinx/Hispanic (n = 432).

Measures

Unless stated otherwise, measures were coded such that higher scores indicated greater endorsement of the construct. Participants self-reported their demographic characteristics.

Participant sex was assessed asking, "What is your sex?" with the option choices of male or female. For race. participants selected one or more categories on a flashcard (White, Black or African American, Asian, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander and Indigenous or Alaska Native) and were asked, "Are you of Hispanic or Latino origin?" (yes or no) to assess ethnicity.

Sexuality

Sexuality was measured by three dimensions, identity, attraction, and behavior. Sexual identity was assessed by asking, "Which of the categories on the card best describes you: (1) heterosexual, (2) gay or lesbian, (3) bisexual, or (4) not sure?". Sexual attraction was measured by asking, "People are different in their sexual attraction to other people. Which category on the card best describes your feelings: (1) only attracted to females, (2) mostly attracted to females, (3) equally attracted to females and males, (4) mostly attracted to males, or (5) only attracted to males?". Sexual behavior was considered by asking all respondents, "In your entire life, have you had sex with only males, only females, or both males and females, or have you never had sex?". If the participant endorsed having sex in their life they were asked, "Have you had sex in the last 12 months?". If they responded affirmatively, they were asked, "During the last 12 months, did you have sex with (1) only males, (2) only females, or (3) both males and females?". Reported kappa values for sexual identity, sexual attraction, and sexual behavior range between .60-.66 (Ruan et al., 2008).

Discrimination

Self-reported experiences of discrimination were assessed with six items adapted from the Experiences of Discrimination (EOD) Scale (Krieger, 1990). The EOD scale was designed to separately assess discrimination experiences based on race, sexuality, or ethnicity. Participants used a 5-point response scale ranging from 0 (*never*) to 4 (*very often*) to report lifetime experiences and experiences within the past 12 months across a variety of situations, such as at school, work, getting medical care, getting service in a restaurant, and in public or street settings as well as with police or the court system. Past studies have suggested good internal reliability of the EOD across racial groups with a Cronbach's alpha of .74 for the original 9-item version (Krieger et al., 2005) as well as for EOD scale for sexual orientation (α = .84) (Ruan et al., 2008).

Mental Health Outcomes

Psychiatric disorders and well-being were assessed using the NIAAA Alcohol Use Disorder and Associated Disabilities Interview Schedule-5 (AUDADIS-5; Grant et al., 2015). The AUDADIS-5 is a structured interview designed to asses for alcohol, drug and mental disorders according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition diagnostic criteria (DSM-5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013). When administered as directed, the interview has been found to have good to excellent reliability for substance use disorder diagnoses and associated criteria scales (.41 - .87), and fair to good reliabilities for mood, anxiety and trauma and stress-related disorders and associated scales (.40 – .51) (Grant et al., 2015). The AUDADIS-5 assessed lifetime occurrence of anxiety and mood disorders as well as whether an episode occurred in the past year.

Anxiety was assessed using a 21-item self-report measure of general anxiety disorder (GAD) symptoms as defined by the diagnostic criteria from the DSM-5. Participants answered either yes or no to questions targeted at specific GAD diagnostic symptoms (e.g., feel keyed up or on edge, have tense, aching muscles, become so restless that you fidgeted, paced, or couldn't sit still). Past studies have found the reliability of the interview schedule for dimensional measures of GAD to be good with an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) of .79 (95% CI, .72 to .83)(Grant et al., 2015).

Symptoms of major depressive disorder were assessed using a 28-item self-report interview from the AUDADIS-5 section on low mood. Symptoms of persistent depressive disorder were assessed using a 20-item self-report interview from the AUDADIS-5 secondary section on low mood. Both assessments for depressive symptoms were based on DSM-5 criteria. MDE related symptoms were assessed by asking yes or no questions related to appetite, weight gain or loss, difficulties with sleep, energy and feelings of worthlessness. Symptoms of dysthymia was assessed by asking yes or no questions related to having a low mood that lasted for two years or longer. Past studies have found the reliability of the interview schedule to be good for dimensional measures of MDE (ICC = .59, 95% CI, .50 to .65) and dysthymia (ICC = .65, 95% CI, .58 to .70) (Grant et al., 2015).

Protective Factors

Racial identity and social support will be explored as potential protective factors that buffer mental health outcomes. Racial and ethnic identity was assessed with an eight-item race-ethnic identification scale. This measure was adapted from previous scales that were utilized among racially diverse groups as a way of measuring an individual's concept of self that originates from their knowledge of and perceived membership within a racial social group (Ruan

et al., 2008). Items conceptualized race-ethnic identification, pride, importance of heritage ("Your Hispanic or Latino heritage is important in your life"), the role of race-ethnic background in interactions with others ("You are more comfortable in social situations where other African Americans are present"), and shared values, attitudes, and behaviors ("Your values, attitudes and behaviors are shared by people of Hispanic or Latino origin"). Participants used a 6-point response scale ranging from 1 (*strongly agree*) to 6 (*strongly disagree*). Ruan and colleagues (2008) reported the reliability of the interview schedule for race-ethnic identification to be .79.

Social Support was assessed with the 12-item abbreviated version of the Interpersonal Support Evaluation List (ISEL-12; Cohen et al., 1983, 1985). Participants were asked about their current potential support systems ("there is someone I can turn to for advice about handling problems with my family") as well as their perception of themselves in a social network ("I don't often get invited to do things with others"). Participants used a 4-point response scale ranging from 1 (*definitely false*) to 4 (*definitely true*). Past studies have found the reliability of the ISEL-12 to be good ($\alpha = 0.82$) (Ruan et al., 2008).

Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed in R v1.2.5033 (R Core Team, 2019). To examine differences in discrimination and mental health among racial groups, one-way ANOVA with post-hoc Tukey tests were performed. Exploration of the distributions for each outcome variable revealed that 75% of participants reported zero experiences of sexuality-based discrimination, 64% reported zero experiences of racial discrimination, 78% reported zero anxiety symptoms, and 59% reported zero depression symptoms. Frequency of discrimination experienced and number of depression and anxiety symptoms, were treated as count variables. Count variables are defined as having values that are always whole numbers, with the lowest possible value of

zero, and are often skewed such that a majority of the values are relatively low within the distribution (Cameron & Trivedi, 1998).

Due to the zero inflation in responses for discrimination and mental health outcomes, a zero inflated Poisson (ZIP) model was used in the related hypothesis testing (Atkins & Gallop, 2007) with use of the *zeroinfl* package (Zeileis, Kleiber, & Jackman, 2008). A ZIP models the disproportionate number of zeros of the outcome variable by approximating two separate models and distributions (Beaujean & Grant, 2016). Within the ZIP, a logistic regression is first utilized to examine occurrence and predict non-occurrence, such that the difference between a zero and a non-zero is determined. Next, a Poisson regression is utilized to examine the frequency of occurrence for the outcome conditional on the excess zeros (Atkins & Gallop, 2007; Beaujean & Grant, 2016; Rose et al., 2006). Given the different interpretations of each model, the count model predicting the frequency of the outcome can produce a rate ratio (RR) while the logistic portion of the model is interpreted as an odds ratio (OR) of being a zero within the distribution (Atkins et al., 2013). A Vuong (1989) goodness-of-fit test determined that a ZIP model was the best fitting model for this data compared to negative binomial or linear regression models.

Results

Table 1 contains the demographic characteristics of the study sample. Ages of participants ranged from 18 to 90 years (M = 41.89, SD = 17.57). Of those that endorse some aspect of sexual minority status (i.e., identity, behavior, or attraction), 57.9% identified as lesbian, gay, or bisexual (n = 1,351), 79.67% endorsed attraction (n = 1,860), 76.5% reported lifetime sexual behavior (n = 1,787), and 51.3% (n = 1,198) endorsed sexual behavior in the past 12 months. Gender and age were significantly different between racial groups, and thus, were used as control variables throughout the analysis.

Table 1:Demographic Characteristics of Sexual Minority Population Only

	Total $(N = 2335)$
Age	
18-24	18.9% (441)
25-44	40.0% (935)
45-64	28.8% (672)
≥ 65	12.3% (287)
Sex	
Male	40.9% (955)
Female	59.1% (1380)
Race/Ethnicity	
American Indian or Alaskan Native	1.3% (31)
Asian or Pacific Islander	4.6% (107)
Black or African American	23.2% (541)
Hispanic/Latinx, any race	18.5% (432)
White	52.4% (1224)
Sexual Minority Facet	
Identity	57.9% (1351)
Behavior, lifetime	76.5% (1787)
Behavior, past 12 months	51.3% (1198)
Attraction	79.67% (1860)

Experiences of Discrimination

Lifetime experiences of racial discrimination among participants who reported any discrimination, were more common among sexual minorities of color, Black, Indigenous, Asian,

and Latinx identities, compared to Whites. The odds of reporting zero lifetime racial discrimination were significant and negatively associated with being a sexual minority of any marginalized race. The odds of reporting zero lifetime sexuality-based discrimination were lower for Black (OR = 0.33, 95% CI = 0.7, 0.58, 0.99, and Asian (OR=0.68, 0.95% CI = 0.11, 0.120, 0.99, 0.99) sexual minorities compared to White sexual minorities. Among participants who did report any sexuality-based discrimination, lifetime rates were higher for Black (RR=0.118, 0.99) and lower for Indigenous (RR=0.118, 0.99) CI = 0.11, 0.99,

Table 2:Zero-Inflated Poisson (ZIP) Regressions for Race Predicting Racial Discrimination

J	(/	0	J			
			Z	IP .		
Variable	Estimate	SE	OR	LCL	UCL	p-value
Count portion of model						
Intercept (White)	0.68	0.08	1.97	0.53	0.83	<.0001
Black	0.44	0.05	1.55	0.34	0.54	<.0001
Indigenous	0.54	0.13	1.71	0.28	0.79	<.0001
Asian	0.26	0.09	1.30	0.08	0.44	0.004
Latinx	0.53	0.06	1.70	0.42	0.64	<.0001
Gender	0.07	0.04	1.07	-0.01	0.15	0.09
Age	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	0.01	<.001
	Logistic portion of model					
Intercept (White)	0.40	0.16	1.49	0.08	0.72	0.014
Black	-1.40	0.12	0.25	-1.63	-1.17	<.0001
Indigenous	-1.22	0.38	0.30	-1.96	-0.48	0.001
Asian	-1.08	0.22	0.34	-1.51	-0.65	<.0001
Latinx	-0.60	0.13	0.55	-0.85	-0.36	<.0001
Gender	0.06	0.10	1.06	-0.13	0.25	0.55
Age	0.01	0.00	1.01	0.01	0.02	<.0001

Note. Gender was coded such that 0 = male, 1 = female.

Table 2 presents the results of the ZIP regressions for race predicting experiences of racial discrimination measured in the past twelve months. Among those who reported any racial discrimination, all racially marginalized sexual minorities, were significantly associated with increased experiences of racial discrimination. The odds of being among those who reported zero racial discrimination in the past twelve months, were significant and negatively associated with all racial minorities, such that being a sexual minority of color increased the likelihood of experiencing racial discrimination.

Among those who reported any sexuality-based discrimination in the past twelve months, Black (RR = 1.32, 95% CI = 1.19, 1.46, p < .0001), and Latinx (RR = 1.15, 95% CI = 1.03, 1.28, p = .01) individuals were significantly associated with increased sexuality-based discrimination compared to their White counterparts. Indigenous sexual minorities reported less sexuality-based discrimination (RR = 0.52, 95% CI = 0.32, 0.88, p = .01) compared to White sexual minorities. There was not a significant difference between Asian and White sexual minorities. There were no significant racial differences among those who reported zero sexuality discrimination in the past twelve months.

Mental Health Outcomes

In regard to mental health, overall the odds of reporting zero depression symptoms were higher for all Black, Asian, and Latinx sexual minorities. These results indicate that overall, Black, Asian, and Latinx participants were more likely to report zero symptoms of depression. When Latinx sexual minorities did report depressive symptoms (i.e., when they are a non-zero, as is examined in the count model), they reported slightly more symptoms (RR = 1.06, 95% CI = 1.01, 1.11, p = .02). Among those who reported any depressive symptoms, Asian sexual

minorities reported fewer symptoms compared to White sexual minorities (RR = 0.77, 95% CI = 0.69, 0.86, p < .0001).

The odds of reporting zero anxiety symptoms were significantly and positively associated with Black and Asian sexual minorities, such that they were significantly more likely to be among those who reported zero anxiety symptoms. When they did report any anxiety symptoms, Black (RR = 0.88, 95% CI = 0.84, 0.95, p < .0001) and Asian (RR = 0.83, 95% CI = 0.72, 0.95, p = .004) sexual minorities reported fewer symptoms than their White counterparts. Overall, sexual minorities of color had greater odds of reporting zero anxiety and depression symptoms, and when they did endorse any depression or anxiety symptoms, they were more likely to report fewer symptoms than their White counterparts.

Interaction of Discrimination and Mental Health Outcomes

When depression symptoms were present (non-zero), the effect of racial discrimination was associated with more symptoms of depression in general (RR = 1.04, 95% CI = 1.03, 1.05, p < .0001). The odds of reporting zero depression symptoms decreased with the experience of any racial discrimination (OR = 0.78, 95% CI = 0.71, 0.86, p < .0001). Among those who reported depression symptoms, the interaction of a marginalized racial identity and racial discrimination produced no significant effects. The odds of reporting zero symptoms of depression increased for Black (OR = 1.20, 95% CI = 1.07, 1.35, p = .001), and Latinx (OR = 1.12, 95% CI = 1.00, 1.26, p = .047) sexual minorities experiencing racial discrimination. Experiences of racial discrimination for Black and Latinx sexual minorities was associated with an increased likelihood of reporting zero depression symptoms.

When anxiety symptoms were present (non-zero), the effect of racial discrimination was associated with more symptoms of anxiety in general (RR = 1.02~95% CI = 1.01, 1.03, p = .003).

The odds of reporting zero anxiety symptoms decreased with the experience of any racial discrimination (OR = 0.85, 95% CI = 0.79, 0.92, p < .0001). Among those who reported any anxiety symptoms, the interaction of a marginalized racial identity and racial discrimination produced no significant effects. The odds of reporting zero symptoms of anxiety were not significantly affected by the interaction of a marginalized racial identity and racial discrimination. No racial differences were found despite the association of racial discrimination with increased anxiety symptoms in general.

When depression symptoms were present (non-zero), the effect of sexuality-based discrimination was associated with more symptoms (RR = 1.02, 95% CI = 1.01, 1.03, p < .0001). The odds of reporting zero depression symptoms decreased with the experience of any sexualitybased discrimination (OR = 0.93, 95% CI = 0.87, 0.98, p = .01). There were no significant racial differences found despite the significant positive relationship between sexuality-based discrimination and depression symptoms overall. Among those who reported any depression symptoms, the interaction of a marginalized racial identity and sexuality-based discrimination produced no significant effects. The odds of reporting zero symptoms of depression increased for Black sexual minorities experiencing sexuality-based discrimination compared to White sexual minorities (OR = 1.09, 95% CI = 1.01, 1.17, p = .001). Similar to the effect of racial discrimination, sexuality-based discrimination for Black sexual minorities was associated with an increased likelihood of reporting zero depression symptoms. When anxiety symptoms were present (non-zero), the effect of sexuality-based discrimination was associated with increased symptoms of anxiety in general (RR = 1.01 95% CI = 1.00, 1.02, p = .003). The odds of reporting zero anxiety symptoms decreased with the experience of any racial discrimination (OR = 0.96, 95% CI = 0.91, 0.99, p > .0001). Among those who reported anxiety symptoms, the

interaction of a marginalized racial identity and sexuality-based discrimination produced no significant effects. Additionally, the odds of reporting zero symptoms of anxiety were not significantly affected by the interaction of a marginalized racial identity and sexuality-based discrimination. Similar to the outcomes for racial discrimination, sexuality discrimination was associated with increased anxiety symptoms in general, but no racial differences were found.

Racial- and sexuality-based discrimination measures were combined to examine the additive effects of compounded discrimination on mental health outcomes. Among the sexual minorities that reported any symptoms of depression, the effect from both race- and sexualitybased discrimination was significantly associated with increased depression symptoms (RR = 1.0295% CI = 1.02, 1.03, p < .001) and their interaction decreased the odds of reporting zero depression symptoms (OR = 0.91, 95% CI = 0.87, 0.95, p < .0001). Relative to White sexual minorities, the combined effect of both racial and sexuality-based discrimination was associated with higher odds of reporting zero depression symptoms for Black sexual minorities (OR = 1.09, 95% CI = 1.03, 1.15, p < .01). When anxiety symptoms were present (non-zero), the combined effects of both types of discrimination were associated with an increase in symptoms (RR = 1.01 95% CI = 1.01, 1.02, p < .001). Additionally, experiencing both types of discrimination was associated with slightly lower odds of reporting zero anxiety symptoms in general (OR = 0.92, 95% CI = 0.89, 0.96, p = .002). No significant racial differences were found for anxiety symptoms from the interaction of racial and sexuality-based discrimination. Overall, the combined effects of racial and sexuality discrimination were associated with an increase in depression and anxiety symptoms. Black sexual minorities were more likely to report zero symptoms of depression relative to Whites.

Protective Factors

The potential protective influences of social support and racial identity on sexual minorities were also examined. Sexual minorities that identified as Black or Asian reported less social support compared to their White counterparts. Black, Asian, and Latinx sexual minorities reported greater positive racial identity when compared to White sexual minorities (Table 3).

Table 3: *Protective Factors*

Froiective Facto	73					
		\$	Social Suppo	rt		
	β	SE	LCL	UCL	p-value	
Intercept	31.01	0.47	30.09	31.93	<.0001	
Black	-1.06	0.35	-1.74	-0.37	0.003	
Indigenous	-1.17	1.22	-3.56	1.21	0.335	
Asian	-2.08	0.68	-3.42	-0.75	0.002	
Latinx	-0.44	0.38	-1.20	0.31	0.249	
Gender	0.03	0.29	-0.53	0.59	0.925	
Age	-0.05	0.01	-0.06	-0.03	<.0001	
]	Racial Identi	ty		
	β	SE	LCL	UCL	p-value	
Intercept	22.72	0.56	21.63	23.81	<.0001	
Black	6.15	0.42	5.33	6.97	<.0001	
Indigenous	1.81	1.45	-1.04	4.65	0.214	
Asian	4.85	0.80	3.28	6.43	<.0001	
Latinx	4.68	0.46	3.79	5.58	<.0001	
Gender	-0.19	0.34	-0.86	0.48	0.582	
Age	0.06	0.01	0.04	0.08	<.0001	
<i>Note.</i> Gender was coded such that $0 = \text{male}$, $1 = \text{female}$.						

Social support was associated with fewer depression symptoms among sexual minorities that reported any symptoms (RR = .99, 95% CI = 0.99, 0.99, p = .01) and increased the likelihood of reporting zero symptoms (OR = 1.041, 95% CI = 1.02, 1.06, p > .0001). Among Black sexual minorities that reported any depression symptoms, social support was significantly associated with fewer symptoms compared to White sexual minorities (RR = .99, 95% CI = 0.98,

0.99, p = 0.047). Social support was not significantly related to symptoms of anxiety in general. However, for Black sexual minorities that did endorse any anxiety symptoms, social support was significantly associated with fewer symptoms compared to their White counterparts (RR = .98, 95% CI = 0.97, 0.99, p < .0001). Social support was negatively associated with symptoms of both depression and anxiety for Black sexual minorities, indicating that social support may play a part in improving mental health outcomes.

Positive racial identity was associated with fewer symptoms of anxiety in general (RR= .99, 95% CI = 0.99, 0.99, p = .01). The odds of reporting zero depression symptoms increased with higher scores of a positive racial identity (OR = 1.04, 95% CI = 1.02, 1.05, p < .0001). There were no significant differences associated with the effect of racial identity on depression symptoms for different racial groups. Relative to White sexual minorities, racial identity was associated with slightly increased anxiety symptoms in Latinx individuals that reported any symptoms of anxiety (RR = 1.01, 95% CI = 1.01, 1.02, p < .001). A positive racial identity correlated with fewer symptoms of both anxiety and depression in general. While there were no significant racial differences for racial identity on depression outcomes, Latinx sexual minorities reported higher rates of anxiety symptoms.

Discussion

The present study explored the relationship between discrimination, mental health and the potential moderating effects of social support and racial identity within a large, nationally representative sample of sexual minority adults. The purpose was to contribute to a current gap in the literature by examining the unique experiences of multiply marginalized communities and to look at the influence of race and discrimination within a sexual minority population. The impact of discrimination on the mental health of sexual minorities of color remains contradictory. The current study results indicate that in general, despite experiencing more discrimination, sexual minorities of color evidenced fewer symptoms of depression and anxiety compared to White sexual minorities, ultimately in support of the strengths and cumulative resilience that may be developed in sexual minority communities of color.

Congruent with the current literature, all sexual minorities of color reported an increased frequency of racial discrimination. The prevalence for racial discrimination is well evidenced (Bostwick et al., 2014; Buchanan et al., 2018; Buchanan & Fitzgerald, 2008; Budhwani et al., 2015; Velez et al., 2019) and these results support the hypothesis that sexual minorities of color would report higher rates of racial discrimination compared to White sexual minorities. Findings across racial groups in regard to sexuality-based discrimination provide a more nuanced racial experience of sexual minorities. Consistent with multiple jeopardy (Beal, 1970; King, 1988), Black and Latinx sexual minorities endorsed increased experiences of both racial- and sexuality-based discrimination. In contrast, the reports from Indigenous sexual minorities indicated less sexuality-based discrimination compared to Whites. The lack of significant results for the other racial groups may be due to the low levels of sexuality-based discrimination in the sample overall. The varied results for Black and Indigenous sexual minorities, when compared to White

sexual minorities, underscore the importance of recognizing the unique differences among racial minorities.

The hypothesis that sexual minorities of color would report higher rates of anxiety and depression compared to their White counterparts was partially supported. When compared to Whites, Black and Asian sexual minorities reported fewer symptoms of both anxiety and depression, while Latinx individuals endorsed increased depression symptoms. These results, when considered alongside data that suggests sexual minorities suffer from worse mental health outcomes compared to heterosexuals (Kates et al., 2018; Rice et al., 2019), with no reference to racial identities, stress the importance of looking at racial identity within a sexual minority population. Racial differences exist within a sexual minority population. A possible explanation for these differences could be the unique racial and cultural understanding of the symptoms – symptom attribution - as presented to them during the interview (Neighbors et al., 2003). Alternatively, we know that racial minorities report greater stigma associated with mental illness which may lead to underreporting symptoms (Wong et al., 2017). Finally, it may be important to note that this study sample largely reported having no symptoms of anxiety or depression. When anxiety or depression was reported, the average number of symptoms were relatively low.

Results from this study indicate a complex story of risk and resilience. The current literature indicates that discrimination is associated with worse mental health outcomes (Bostwick et al., 2014; Krieger et al., 2005; Wong et al., 2017). However, the relatively lower levels of discrimination seen in this study did not unilaterally demonstrate an increase in worse mental health outcomes. In fact, in some cases, such as the Black sexual minority group, the opposite was seen. This contradiction may be attributed to the low levels (frequency and severity) of discrimination reported. The present results showed sexual minorities of color

experienced more discrimination and yet reported fewer symptoms of anxiety and depression when compared to White sexual minorities. Additionally, the additive effects of experiencing both racial- and sexuality-based discrimination did not produce any significant positive effects on depression or anxiety. These findings are incongruent with studies that associated worse mental health outcomes for sexual minorities of color that reported increased experiences of discrimination (Bostwick et al., 2014; Calabrese et al., 2015). The present results contribute to theories that support a positive development of cumulative resilience in the face of increased adversity for individuals that are marginalized across multiple identities (Bowleg et al., 2003; Meyer, 2010). Additionally, it is possible that levels of discrimination were lower in this sample than in studies with results that support worse mental health outcomes.

These findings support a theory of increased resilience, in which sexual minorities of color are racially socialized from birth, which buffers against negative effects of sexuality-based discrimination later in life. In contrast, White sexual minorities may be experiencing identity-based discrimination for the first time and not have the skills to buffer the psychological harm of adversity (Cyrus, 2017; Meyer, 2010). Racial minorities often grow up with parents and a community that provide racial socialization. Socialization throughout child development helps racial minorities prepare for, witness examples of, and learn about the historical context of racism they will inevitably face in the United States (Brown, 2008; Fitzgerald et al., 2019; Stone et al., 2020). In contrast, the socialization of White racial identity includes internalizing beliefs of racial superiority and expectations that the rules and systems in the United States will mostly be beneficial in their lives (Allen, 2020; Hagerman, 2014). Compared to racial minorities, White sexual minorities may be less prepared to face sexuality-based discrimination. Taken together,

the cumulative resilience in sexual minorities communities of color may offer protection against multiple jeopardy at low levels of discrimination.

We would not expect to see these same mental health results if participants experienced more severe discriminatory events, such as bias motivated violence. It is well documented that higher levels of identity-based discrimination, violence, and hate crimes are associated with increased risk of suicide and poor mental health outcomes (Burks et al., 2018; Cramer et al., 2018; Frost et al., 2015; Herek et al., 1999). It is likely that these results were not replicated here due to the zero-inflated data. Overall, this sample reported fewer experiences and less severe discrimination.

In service of amplifying the strengths within sexual minority communities, findings indicated that Black sexual minorities that endorsed social support reported fewer symptoms of depression and anxiety compared to their White counterparts. This is in line with evidence that suggests social support can buffer the negative mental health consequences of racial discrimination for Black individuals in particular (Brown, 2008; Plant & Sachs-Ericsson, 2004; Sehmi et al., 2019). Additionally, results support evidence that community connectedness can improve psychological outcomes for sexual minorities (Puckett et al., 2015). These findings add to the current literature that address social support for racial or sexual minorities separately and indicates that Black sexual minorities that endorse any symptoms of anxiety or depression may also benefit.

The current results did not support the hypothesis that a positive racial identity would attenuate the relationship between discrimination and symptoms of anxiety and depression such that sexual minorities of color with more positive racial identities would have fewer symptoms. In contrast, for Latinx sexual minorities that reported any symptoms of anxiety, racial identity

was actually associated with an increase in anxiety compared to White sexual minorities. These findings are inconsistent with previous studies which found racial identity to buffer the effects of racial discrimination in racial minorities (Schmitt et al., 2014; Sellers & Shelton, 2003). However, the literature is ambiguous on how the intersection of racial and sexual identity may impact mental health outcomes in the face of discrimination. No significant effects for racial identity were identified for other racial groups.

Racial identity is a dynamic process involving family racial socialization, external environmental factors, and may change over time (Douglass & Umaña-Taylor, 2015, 2016; Townsend & Lanphier, 2007). In this study, higher levels of racial identity within Latinx individuals was associated with higher levels of anxiety. A possible explanation for these findings may be that the families of these Latinx individuals, family being a major component in one's racial identity, offer conflicting sources of support and rejection (Przeworski & Piedra, 2020). Both internalized homophobia (Puckett et al., 2015, 2018), and internalized racism (Velez et al., 2019) have been related to poorer mental health outcomes. If racial identity does not include affirming beliefs related to sexuality, then racial identity – which is often associated with positive mental health outcomes – may be associated with negative psychological effects.

Further, how racial identity is measured in the literature varies widely and types of racial identity may affect this relationship (Banks & Kohn-Wood, 2007). Further exploration of the function of racial identity on mental health outcomes for racial and sexual minorities is needed.

The present study included a large national sample of adults who identified as lesbian, gay, or bisexual, or indicated any sexual minority behavior or attraction. Some studies indicate that different aspects of sexuality, identity, attraction, or behavior, differentially affect mental health outcomes (Diamond, 2014; Galupo et al., 2015; van Anders, 2015). Thus, only including

individuals that self-identify with a sexual orientation label may exclude an important part of the population, i.e. those with sexual minority behavior or attraction. Sexual behavior, not sexual identity, was associated with suicide attempts among a study of Norwegian adults (Wichstrøm & Hegna, 2003), indicating that sexual behavior may affect mental health above and beyond self-identified labels. Odds of a person reporting any mood or anxiety disorder were found to be significantly different across facets of sexual identity and sexual behavior (Bostwick et al., 2010). The present study captured the intersections of race and sexuality more broadly by including individuals across the spectrum of identity, behavior, and attraction. Taken together, it is clear that sexual minorities of color experience nuanced, and divergent, experiences of discrimination which differentially impact mental health outcomes.

Limitations and Future Directions

The present study used a robust, nationally representative sample with a multidimensional measure of sexuality. Having a large sample allowed for analyses within a racially diverse sexual minority population rather than comparisons between sexual minorities and heterosexuals. The study was able to demonstrate support for a strengths-based model of cumulative resilience within sexual minority communities of color. Even so, there are some potential limitations to address.

While minimal mental health concerns and low frequency of discrimination is certainly a welcome result, they should be carefully considered. NESARC-III data was collected in person and in the home of the participants. Compared to anonymous internet surveys, face to face interviews may result in less truthful responses or be affected by stigma and fears of disclosing information related to sexuality (Bjarnadottir et al., 2017; van Eeden-Moorefield et al., 2008). Racial matching between the interviewer and interviewee has been shown to promote greater

disclosure in regard to discrimination due to perceptions of more shared experiences and mutual understanding of racial discrimination between the interviewer and participant (Egharevba, 2001; Vakil et al., 2016). The demographics of the interviewers in the current study are unknown, however it is a possibility that the face to face data collection negatively impacted participant's responses (Hayfield & Huxley, 2015).

Another limitation of the current study is the way in which discrimination was measured. The EOD Scale (Krieger, 1990), combines different types of discrimination across different situations into a singular question. For example, they asked how often one experienced discrimination when obtaining a job or on the job, getting admitted to a school or training program, in the courts or by the police in the same question. Another item asks how often they have been made fun of, picked on, pushed, hit, or threatened with harm. Responding with a frequency to one of these questions could indicate that someone is threatened with harm very often or that they are picked on very often, or both. These experiences, while both negative, are not of the same severity and could provide greater insight if measured separately. To examine the effects of discrimination it would be helpful to be able to measure the differential effect of being made fun of very often compared to being threatened almost never. Further, these items focus mostly on interpersonal interactions involving discrimination and may not adequately capture institutional and systemic forms of racism and oppression.

Lastly, the mental health outcomes of this study were confined to symptoms of depression and anxiety. It is possible that the effects of discrimination may impact other mental health measures outside of mood or anxiety disorders. Further, it is possible that the measures of anxiety and depression within this particular sample did not adequately measure their current levels of distress. Given that the current research is ambiguous on how racial and sexuality

discrimination affects sexual minorities of color, it may not directly result in anxiety or depression at all. It is reasonable to consider other potential coping mechanisms such as substance use, binge eating, or measures of post-traumatic stress disorder to better capture the effects of discrimination.

Despite the limitations of this study, the findings contribute a strengths-based perspective on the effects of low levels of discrimination on symptoms of depression and anxiety in sexual minorities of color. Compared to White sexual minorities, sexual minorities of color reported fewer symptoms of anxiety or depression despite experiencing more frequent racial- and sexuality-based discrimination. These findings highlight increased resilience in sexual minority communities of color. Social support was a significant protective factor for Black sexual minorities that reported any symptoms of depression or anxiety. By using an inclusive measure of sexuality, the implications of these findings are more generalizable. Future research and methods of measuring strength and risk factors across intersecting identities are needed to understand the experiences and potential sources of resilience in multiply marginalized populations.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Allen, W. S. (2020). Learning to become white girls in a settler colonial context: Exploring the racial socialization of white Euro-Canadian women. *Settler Colonial Studies*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/2201473X.2020.1771976
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (Fifth Edition). American Psychiatric Association. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Anderson-Carpenter, K. D., Sauter, H. M., Luiggi-Hernández, J. G., & Haight, P. E. (2018). Associations between Perceived Homophobia, Community Connectedness, and Having a Primary Care Provider among Gay and Bisexual Men. *Sexuality Research and Social Policy*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-018-0347-8
- Badgett, M. V. L. (2009). Best Practices for Asking Questions about Sexual Orientation on Surveys. *UCLA: The Williams Institute*, 59. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/706057d5
- Baker, T. A., Buchanan, N. T., & Spencer, T. R. (2010). Disparities and social inequities: Is the health of African American women still in peril? *Ethnicity & Disease*, 20(3), 304–309.
- Balsam, K. F., Molina, Y., Blayney, J. A., Dillworth, T., Zimmerman, L., & Kaysen, D. (2015). Racial/ethnic differences in identity and mental health outcomes among young sexual minority women. *Cultural Diversity & Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *21*(3), 380–390. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038680
- Banks, K. H., & Kohn-Wood, L. P. (2007). The Influence of Racial Identity Profiles on the Relationship Between Racial Discrimination and Depressive Symptoms. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *33*(3), 331–354. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798407302540
- Beal, F. M. (1970). Double Jeopardy: To Be Black and Female. *Meridians: Feminism, Race, Transnationalism*, 8(2), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.2979/MER.2008.8.2.166
- Bell, C. C., Jackson, W. M., & Bell, B. H. (2015). Misdiagnosis of African-Americans with Psychiatric Issues Part II. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 107(3), 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-9684(15)30049-3

- Bjarnadottir, R. I., Bockting, W., & Dowding, D. W. (2017). Patient perspectives on answering questions about sexual orientation and gender identity: An integrative review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(13–14), 1814–1833. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13612
- Bostwick, W. B., Boyd, C. J., Hughes, T. L., & McCabe, S. E. (2010). Dimensions of Sexual Orientation and the Prevalence of Mood and Anxiety Disorders in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(3), 468–475. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.152942
- Bostwick, W. B., Boyd, C. J., Hughes, T. L., West, B. T., & McCabe, S. E. (2014). Discrimination and mental health among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry; Washington*, 84(1), 35. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/h0098851
- Bowleg, L. (2008). When Black + Lesbian + Woman ≠ Black Lesbian Woman: The Methodological Challenges of Qualitative and Quantitative Intersectionality Research. *Sex Roles*, 59(5–6), 312–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9400-z
- Bowleg, L. (2012). The Problem With the Phrase Women and Minorities: Intersectionality—An Important Theoretical Framework for Public Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(7), 1267–1273. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300750
- Bowleg, L., Craig, M. L., & Burkholder, G. (2004). Rising and surviving: A conceptual model of active coping among Black lesbians. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 10(3), 229–240. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/1099-9809.10.3.229
- Bowleg, L., Huang, J., Brooks, K., Black, A., & Burkholder, G. (2003). Triple Jeopardy and Beyond: Multiple Minority Stress and Resilience Among Black Lesbians. *Journal of Lesbian Studies*, 7(4), 87–108. https://doi.org/10.1300/J155v07n04_06
- Boyd, C. J., Veliz, P. T., Stephenson, R., Hughes, T. L., & McCabe, S. E. (2019). Severity of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Drug Use Disorders Among Sexual Minority Individuals and Their "Not Sure" Counterparts. *LGBT Health*, *6*(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2018.0122
- Brooks, V. R. (1981). Minority stress and lesbian women. Lexington Books.
- Brown, D. L. (2008). African American Resiliency: Examining Racial Socialization and Social Support as Protective Factors. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *34*(1), 32–48. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798407310538

- Buchanan, N. T. (2015). Intersectionality and clinical psychology: Recognizing ethnicity, gender and other salient identities as mutually informative. *Clinical Psychology of Ethnic Minorities: Newsletter of APA Division 12, Section 6*, 4.
- Buchanan, N. T., & Fitzgerald, L. F. (2008). Effects of racial and sexual harassment on work and the psychological well-being of African American women. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *13*(2), 137–151. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.13.2.137
- Buchanan, N. T., Settles, I. H., Wu, I. H. C., & Hayashino, D. S. (2018). Sexual Harassment, Racial Harassment, and Well-Being among Asian American Women: An Intersectional Approach. *Women & Therapy*, 41(3–4), 261–280. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2018.1425030
- Budhwani, H., Hearld, K. R., & Chavez-Yenter, D. (2015). Depression in Racial and Ethnic Minorities: The Impact of Nativity and Discrimination. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 2(1), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-014-0045-z
- Burks, A. C., Cramer, R. J., Henderson, C. E., Stroud, C. H., Crosby, J. W., & Graham, J. (2018). Frequency, Nature, and Correlates of Hate Crime Victimization Experiences in an Urban Sample of Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Community Members. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 33(3), 402–420. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515605298
- Calabrese, S. K., Meyer, I. H., Overstreet, N. M., Haile, R., & Hansen, N. B. (2015). Exploring Discrimination and Mental Health Disparities Faced By Black Sexual Minority Women Using a Minority Stress Framework. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *39*(3), 287–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684314560730
- Chard, A. N., Finneran, C., Sullivan, P. S., & Stephenson, R. (2015). Experiences of homophobia among gay and bisexual men: Results from a cross-sectional study in seven countries. *Culture, Health & Sexuality*, 17(10), 1174–1189. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2015.1042917
- Cohen, S., Doyle, W. J., Skoner, D. P., Rabin, B. S., & Gwaltney, J. M. (1997). Social Ties and Susceptibility to the Common Cold. *JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 277(24), 1940. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1997.03550150036020
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 24(4), 385–396. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404

- Cohen, S., Mermelstein, R., Kamarck, T., & Hoberman, H. M. (1985). Measuring the Functional Components of Social Support. In I. G. Sarason & B. R. Sarason (Eds.), *Social Support: Theory, Research and Applications* (pp. 73–94). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-5115-0_5
- Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2015). *Projections of the Size and Composition of the U.S. Population: 2014 to 2060* (p. 13). U.S. Census Bureau.
- Cole, E. R. (2009). Intersectionality and research in psychology. *American Psychologist*, 64(3), 170–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014564
- Cramer, R. J., Wright, S., Long, M. M., Kapusta, N. D., Nobles, M. R., Gemberling, T. M., & Wechsler, H. J. (2018). On hate crime victimization: Rates, types, and links with suicide risk among sexual orientation minority special interest group members. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 19(4), 476–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2018.1451972
- Crenshaw, K. (1990). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43, 1241–1300. https://heinonline.org/HOL/P?h=hein.journals/stflr43&i=1257
- Cyrus, K. (2017). Multiple minorities as multiply marginalized: Applying the minority stress theory to LGBTQ people of color. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 21(3), 194–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/19359705.2017.1320739
- Diamond, Lisa M. (2000). Sexual identity, attractions, and behavior among young sexual-minority women over a 2-year period. *Developmental Psychology*, *36*(2), 241–250. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.36.2.241
- Diamond, L.M. (2014). Gender and same sex sexuality. In D. L. Tolman, L. M. Diamond, J. A. Bauermeister, W. H. George, J. G. Pfaus, & L. Ward (Eds.), *APA handbook of sexuality and psychology Vol. 1: Vol. Vol 1: Person-based approaches* (pp. 629–652). American Psychological Association.
- Douglass, S., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2015). Development of ethnic-racial identity among Latino adolescents and the role of family. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 41, 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2015.09.002

- Douglass, S., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2016). Time-varying effects of family ethnic socialization on ethnic-racial identity development among Latino adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, *52*(11), 1904–1912. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000141
- Egharevba, I. (2001). Researching an-'other' minority ethnic community: Reflections of a black female researcher on the intersections of race, gender and other power positions on the research process. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *4*(3), 225–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570010023760
- Fischer, A. R., & Shaw, C. M. (1999). African Americans' mental health and perceptions of racist discrimination: The moderating effects of racial socialization experiences and self-esteem. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 46(3), 395–407. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/0022-0167.46.3.395
- Fitzgerald, H. E., Johnson, D. J., Qin, D. B., Villarruel, F. A., & Norder, J. (2019). Introduction: A Developmental Systems Perspective on Children and Prejudice. In H. E. Fitzgerald, D. J. Johnson, D. B. Qin, F. A. Villarruel, & J. Norder (Eds.), *Handbook of Children and Prejudice* (pp. 3–22). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-12228-7
- Frost, D. M., Lehavot, K., & Meyer, I. H. (2015). Minority stress and physical health among sexual minority individuals. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *38*(1), 1-. General OneFile. http%3A%2F%2Flink.galegroup.com%2Fapps%2Fdoc%2FA407814774%2FITOF%3Fu%3Dmsu_main%26sid%3DITOF%26xid%3D3a24d71a
- Galupo, M. P., Mitchell, R. C., & Davis, K. S. (2015). Sexual minority self-identification: Multiple identities and complexity. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, 2(4), 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000131
- Gates, G. J. (2011). *How many people are lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender?* (p. 8). The Williams Institute. http://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/research/census-lgbt-demographics-studies/how-many-people-are-lesbian-gay-bisexual-and-transgender/
- Grant, B. F., Goldstein, R. B., Smith, S. M., Jung, J., Zhang, H., Chou, S. P., Pickering, R. P., Ruan, W. J., Huang, B., Saha, T. D., Aivadyan, C., Greenstein, E., & Hasin, D. S. (2015). The Alcohol Use Disorder and Associated Disabilities Interview Schedule-5 (AUDADIS-5): Reliability of substance use and psychiatric disorder modules in a general population sample. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *148*, 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.11.026

- Gray, D., Barton, B., Azam, I., & Bonnett, D. (2017). 2017 National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report. 130.
- Greene, B. (1994). Ethnic-minority lesbians and gay men: Mental health and treatment issues. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62(2), 243–251. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/0022-006X.62.2.243
- Greene, B. (2000). African American Lesbian and Bisexual Women. *Journal of Social Issues*, 56(2), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00163
- Hagerman, M. A. (2014). White families and race: Colour-blind and colour-conscious approaches to white racial socialization. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *37*(14), 2598–2614. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2013.848289
- Hasin, D. S., Shmulewitz, D., Stohl, M., Greenstein, E., Aivadyan, C., Morita, K., Saha, T., Aharonovich, E., Jung, J., Zhang, H., Nunes, E. V., & Grant, B. F. (2015). Procedural validity of the AUDADIS-5 depression, anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder modules: Substance abusers and others in the general population. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 152, 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.03.027
- Hawthorne, W. B., Folsom, D. P., Sommerfeld, D. H., Lanouette, N. M., Lewis, M., Aarons, G. A., Conklin, R. M., Solorzano, E., Lindamer, L. A., & Jeste, D. V. (2012). Incarceration Among Adults Who Are in the Public Mental Health System: Rates, Risk Factors, and Short-Term Outcomes. *Psychiatric Services*, *63*(1), 26–32. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201000505
- Hayfield, N., & Huxley, C. (2015). Insider and Outsider Perspectives: Reflections on Researcher Identities in Research with Lesbian and Bisexual Women. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*(2), 91–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2014.918224
- Herek, G. M., Gillis, J. R., & Cogan, J. C. (1999). Psychological sequelae of hate-crime victimization among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67(6), 945–951. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006x.67.6.945
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: A Meta-analytic Review. *PLOS Medicine*, 7(7), e1000316. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316
- Hughes, D., Rodriguez, J., Smith, E. P., Johnson, D. J., Stevenson, H. C., & Spicer, P. (2006). Parents' ethnic-racial socialization practices: A review of research and directions for

- future study. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 747–770. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.747
- Ifill, S. A., Lynch, L., & Stevenson, B. (2018). *A perilous path: Talking race, inequality, and the law*. The New Press.
- Johnson, D. J. (2004). Racial Socialization Strategies of Parents in Three Black Private Schools. In J. Bobo, C. Hudley, & C. Michel (Eds.), *The Black Studies Reader* (pp. 379–388). Taylor and Francis. http://armytage.net/pdsdata/[Rhoda_Barnes,_Patrick_Bellegarde-Smith, Elsa Bark(BookFi.org).pdf#page=392
- Kann, L., Olsen, E. O., McManus, T., Harris, W. A., Shanklin, S. L., Flint, K. H., Queen, B., Lowry, R., Chyen, D., Whittle, L., Thornton, J., Lim, C., Yamakawa, Y., Brener, N., & Zaza, S. (2016). Sexual Identity, Sex of Sexual Contacts, and Health-Related Behaviors Among Students in Grades 9–12—United States and Selected Sites, 2015. MMWR. Surveillance Summaries, 65. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6509a1
- Kates, J., Ranji, U., Beamesderfer, A., Salganicoff, A., & Dawson, L. (2018). *Health and Access to Care and Coverage for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Individuals in the U.S.* (p. 35). Kaiser Family Foundation.
- Kertzner, R. M., Meyer, I. H., Frost, D. M., & Stirratt, M. J. (2009). Social and Psychological Well-being in Lesbians, Gay Men, and Bisexuals: The Effects of Race, Gender, Age, and Sexual Identity. *The American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 79(4), 500–510. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016848
- King, D. K. (1988). Multiple Jeopardy, Multiple Consciousness: The Context of a Black Feminist Ideology. *Signs*, *14*(1), 42–72. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3174661
- Krieger, N. (1990). Racial and gender discrimination: Risk factors for high blood pressure? Social Science & Medicine, 30(12), 1273–1281. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(90)90307-E
- Krieger, N., Smith, K., Naishadham, D., Hartman, C., & Barbeau, E. M. (2005). Experiences of discrimination: Validity and reliability of a self-report measure for population health research on racism and health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *61*(7), 1576–1596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.03.006

- LaSala, M. C., & Frierson, D. T. (2012). African American Gay Youth and Their Families: Redefining Masculinity, Coping with Racism and Homophobia. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 8(5), 428–445. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2012.729948
- Lee, J. H., Gamarel, K. E., Bryant, K. J., Zaller, N. D., & Operario, D. (2016). Discrimination, Mental Health, and Substance Use Disorders Among Sexual Minority Populations. *LGBT Health*, *3*(4), 258–265. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2015.0135
- Losen, D., Hodson, C., Ee, J., & Martinez, T. (2014). Disturbing Inequities: Exploring the Relationship Between Racial Disparities in Special Education Identification and Discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, 5(2), 22.
- Marshall, P. L. (2002). Racial Identity and Challenges of Educating White Youths for Cultural Diversity. *Multicultural Perspectives*, *4*(3), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327892MCP0403_3
- Mayrl, D., & Saperstein, A. (2013). When white people report racial discrimination: The role of region, religion, and politics. *Social Science Research*, 42(3), 742–754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.12.007
- McGuire, T. G., & Miranda, J. (2008). New Evidence Regarding Racial And Ethnic Disparities In Mental Health: Policy Implications. *Health Affairs*, *27*(2), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.27.2.393
- Mendez, S. N. (2020). Queer socialization: A case study of lesbian, gay, and queer (LGQ) parent families. *The Social Science Journal*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/03623319.2020.1727240
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin; Washington*, *129*(5), 674–697. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674
- Meyer, I. H. (2010). Identity, Stress, and Resilience in Lesbians, Gay Men, and Bisexuals of Color: *The Counseling Psychologist*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000009351601
- Mohr, J. J., & Kendra, M. S. (2011). Revision and extension of a multidimensional measure of sexual minority identity: The Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Identity Scale. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 58(2), 234–245. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022858

- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA). (2015). *National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III (NESARC-III)*. https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/research/nesarc-iii
- Neblett, E. W., Rivas-Drake, D., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2012). The Promise of Racial and Ethnic Protective Factors in Promoting Ethnic Minority Youth Development. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(3), 295–303. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00239.x
- Neblett, E. W., White, R. L., Ford, K. R., Philip, C. L., Nguyên, H. X., & Sellers, R. M. (2008). Patterns of Racial Socialization and Psychological Adjustment: Can Parental Communications About Race Reduce the Impact of Racial Discrimination? *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 18(3), 477–515. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2008.00568.x
- Neighbors, H. W., Trierweiler, S. J., Ford, B. C., & Muroff, J. R. (2003). Racial Differences in DSM Diagnosis Using a Semi-Structured Instrument: The Importance of Clinical Judgment in the Diagnosis of African Americans. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 44(3), 237–256. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1519777
- Paschen-Wolff, M. M., Kelvin, E., Wells, B. E., Campbell, A. N. C., Grosskopf, N. A., & Grov, C. (2019). Changing Trends in Substance Use and Sexual Risk Disparities among Sexual Minority Women as a Function of Sexual Identity, Behavior, and Attraction: Findings from the National Survey of Family Growth, 2002–2015. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-018-1333-1
- Patterson, J. G., Jabson, J. M., & Bowen, D. J. (2017). Measuring Sexual and Gender Minority Populations in Health Surveillance. *LGBT Health*, *4*(2), 82–105. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2016.0026
- Pincus, F. L. (2000). Reverse discrimination vs white privilege: An empirical study of alleged victims of affirmative action. *Race and Society*, *3*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-9524(01)00018-3
- Plant, E. A., & Sachs-Ericsson, N. (2004). Racial and Ethnic Differences in Depression: The Roles of Social Support and Meeting Basic Needs. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(1), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.1.41
- Postmes, T., & Branscombe, N. R. (2002). Influence of long-term racial environmental composition on subjective well-being in African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83(3), 735–751. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.83.3.735

- Przeworski, A., & Piedra, A. (2020). The Role of the Family for Sexual Minority Latinx Individuals: A Systematic Review and Recommendations for Clinical Practice. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 16(2), 211–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2020.1724109
- Puckett, J. A., Levitt, H. M., Horne, S. G., & Hayes-Skelton, S. A. (2015). Internalized heterosexism and psychological distress: The mediating roles of self-criticism and community connectedness. *Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity*, *2*(4), 426–435. http://dx.doi.org.proxy1.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/sgd0000123
- Puckett, J. A., Mereish, E. H., Levitt, H. M., Horne, S. G., & Hayes-Skelton, S. A. (2018). Internalized heterosexism and psychological distress: The moderating effects of decentering. *Stigma and Health*, *3*(1), 9–15. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/sah0000065
- R Core Team. (2019). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing* (Version 1.2.5033) [Computer software]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rice, C. E., Vasilenko, S. A., Fish, J. N., & Lanza, S. T. (2019). Sexual minority health disparities: An examination of age-related trends across adulthood in a national cross-sectional sample. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *31*, 20–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2019.01.001
- Rodriguez-Seijas, C., Eaton, N. R., & Pachankis, J. E. (2019). Prevalence of psychiatric disorders at the intersection of race and sexual orientation: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey of Alcohol and Related Conditions-III. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 87(4), 321–331. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000377
- Rosario, M., & Schrimshaw, E. W. (2014). Theories and etiologies of sexual orientation. In Deborah L. Tolman, L. M. Diamond, J. A. Bauermeister, W. H. George, J. G. Pfaus, & L. M. Ward (Eds.), *APA handbook of sexuality and psychology, Vol. 1: Person-based approaches.* (pp. 555–596). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/14193-018
- Rosenfield, S. (2012). Triple jeopardy? Mental health at the intersection of gender, race, and class. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(11), 1791–1801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.010
- Ross, L. E., Salway, T., Tarasoff, L. A., MacKay, J. M., Hawkins, B. W., & Fehr, C. P. (2018). Prevalence of Depression and Anxiety Among Bisexual People Compared to Gay,

- Lesbian, and Heterosexual Individuals: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 55(4–5), 435–456. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2017.1387755
- Ruan, W. J., Goldstein, R. B., Chou, S. P., Smith, S. M., Saha, T. D., Pickering, R. P., Dawson, D. A., Huang, B., Stinson, F. S., & Grant, B. F. (2008). The Alcohol Use Disorder and Associated Disabilities Interview Schedule-IV (AUDADIS-IV): Reliability of new psychiatric diagnostic modules and risk factors in a general population sample. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 92(1–3), 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2007.06.001
- Schmitt, M. T., Branscombe, N. R., Postmes, T., & Garcia, A. (2014). The consequences of perceived discrimination for psychological well-being: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *140*(4), 921–948. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/a0035754
- Sehmi, R., Maughan, B., Matthews, T., & Arseneault, L. (2019). No man is an island: Social resources, stress and mental health at mid-life. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2019.25
- Sellers, R. M., & Shelton, J. N. (2003). The role of racial identity in perceived racial discrimination. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology; Washington*, 84(5), 1079–1092. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1037/0022-3514.84.5.1079
- Settles, I., & Buchanan, N. T. (2014). Multiple Groups, Multiple Identities, and Intersectionality. *The Oxford Handbook of Multicultural Identity*. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199796694.013.017
- Simon, K. A., & Farr, R. H. (2020). Identity-based socialization and adopted children's outcomes in lesbian, gay, and heterosexual parent families. *Applied Developmental Science*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2020.1748030
- Skopec, L., & Long, S. K. (2015). Lesbian, Gay, And Bisexual Adults Making Gains In Health Insurance And Access To Care. *Health Affairs*, *34*(10), 1769–1773. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0826
- Slavin, L. A., & Rainer, K. L. (1991). Toward a Multicultural Model of the Stress Process. *Journal of Counseling and Development : JCD; Alexandria*, 70(1), 156. http://dx.doi.org.proxy2.cl.msu.edu/10.1002/j.1556-6676.1991.tb01578.x

- Snapp, S. D., Watson, R. J., Russell, S. T., Diaz, R. M., & Ryan, C. (2015). Social Support Networks for LGBT Young Adults: Low Cost Strategies for Positive Adjustment. *Family Relations; Minneapolis*, 64(3), 420–430. http://dx.doi.org.proxy1.cl.msu.edu/10.1111/fare.12124
- Stanley, J. L. (2004). Biracial Lesbian and Bisexual Women. *Women & Therapy*, 27(1–2), 159–171. https://doi.org/10.1300/J015v27n01 11
- Stone, A. L., Nimmons, E. A., Salcido, R., & Schnarrs, P. (2020). "My meemaw is a Cool Ass Person": Family Members as Role Models of Resilience for Sexual and Gender Diverse People of Color. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, *16*(2), 241–257. https://doi.org/10.1080/1550428X.2020.1724148
- Storholm, E. D., Siconolfi, D. E., Halkitis, P. N., Moeller, R. W., Eddy, J. A., & Bare, M. G. (2013). Sociodemographic Factors Contribute to Mental Health Disparities and Access to Services Among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men in New York City. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Mental Health*, 17(3), 294–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/19359705.2012.763080
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2015). Racial/Ethnic Differences in Mental Health Service Use among Adults. 49.
- Townsend, T., & Lanphier, E. (2007). Family Influences on Racial Identity Among African American Youth. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *33*(3), 278–298. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095798407302568
- Ungar, M., & Liebenberg, L. (2011). Assessing Resilience Across Cultures Using Mixed Methods: Construction of the Child and Youth Resilience Measure. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 5(2), 126–149. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689811400607
- U.S. Department of Justice. (2017). *Hate Crime Statistics*. U.S. Department of Justice Federal Bureau of Investigation. https://www.justice.gov/hatecrimes/hate-crime-statistics
- Vakil, S., Royston, M. M. de, Nasir, N. S., & Kirshner, B. (2016). Rethinking Race and Power in Design-Based Research: Reflections from the Field. *Cognition and Instruction*, *34*(3), 194–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/07370008.2016.1169817
- van Anders, S. M. (2015). Beyond Sexual Orientation: Integrating Gender/Sex and Diverse Sexualities via Sexual Configurations Theory. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *44*(5), 1177–1213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-015-0490-8

- van Eeden-Moorefield, B., Proulx, C. M., & Pasley, K. (2008). A Comparison of Internet and Face-to-Face (FTF) Qualitative Methods in Studying the Relationships of Gay Men. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, *4*(2), 181–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504280802096856
- Velez, B. L., Moradi, B., & DeBlaere, C. (2015). Multiple Oppressions and the Mental Health of Sexual Minority Latina/o Individuals. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 43(1), 7–38. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000014542836
- Velez, B. L., Polihronakis, C. J., Watson, L. B., & Cox, R. (2019). Heterosexism, Racism, and the Mental Health of Sexual Minority People of Color. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 001100001982830. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000019828309
- Waters, E., Pham, L., Convery, C., & Yacka-Bible, S. (2018). A Crisis of Hate: A Report on Homicides Against Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender People (p. 22). National Coalition of AntiViolence Programs (NCAVP).
- Wichstrøm, L., & Hegna, K. (2003). Sexual orientation and suicide attempt: A longitudinal study of the general Norwegian adolescent population. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 112(1), 144–151.
- Wong, E. C., Collins, R. L., Cerully, J., Seelam, R., & Roth, B. (2017). Racial and Ethnic Differences in Mental Illness Stigma and Discrimination Among Californians Experiencing Mental Health Challenges. *Rand Health Quarterly*, *6*(2). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5568160/